

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Mutation Research 567 (2004) 85-104



www.elsevier.com/locate/reviewsmr Community address: www.elsevier.com/locate/mutres

Review

Telomere dysfunction in genome instability syndromes

Elsa Callén, Jordi Surrallés*

Group of Mutagenesis, Department of Genetics and Microbiology, Universitat Autónoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

Received 26 May 2004; received in revised form 22 June 2004; accepted 22 June 2004

Available online 25 August 2004

Abstract

Telomeres are nucleoprotein complexes located at the end of eukaryotic chromosomes. They have essential roles in preventing terminal fusions, protecting chromosome ends from degradation, and in chromosome positioning in the nucleus. These terminal structures consist of a tandemly repeated DNA sequence (TTAGGG in vertebrates) that varies in length from 5 to 15 kb in humans. Several proteins are attached to this telomeric DNA, some of which are also involved in different DNA damage response pathways, including Ku80, Mre11, NBS and BLM, among others. Mutations in the genes encoding these proteins cause a number of rare genetic syndromes characterized by chromosome and/or genetic instability and cancer predisposition. Deletions or mutations in any of these genes may also cause a telomere defect resulting in accelerated telomere shortening, lack of end-capping function, and/or end-to-end chromosome fusions. This telomere phenotype is also known to promote chromosomal instability and carcinogenesis. Therefore, it is essential to understand the interplay between telomere biology and genome stability. This review is focused in the dual role of chromosome fragility proteins in telomere maintenance. © 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Telomere dysfunction; Genome instability syndromes; DNA sequence

Contents

1.	Introduction	86
2.	Telomere structure and shortening	86
3.	Telomere maintenance	87
4.	Telomere proteins	88
5.	Telomeres and cancer	90
6.	Telomeres in genome instability syndromes	91
7.	Ataxia telangiectasia	91

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 93 581 18 30;

fax: +34 93 581 23 87.

E-mail address: jordi.surralles@uab.es (J. Surrallés).

^{1383-5742/\$ –} see front matter O 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2004.06.003

8. Nijmegen breakage syndrome	92
9. Bloom syndrome	93
10. Werner syndrome	94
11. Fanconi anaemia	95
12. Concluding remarks	96
Acknowledgements	96
References	96

1. Introduction

Telomeres, the nucleoprotein complexes at the end of eukaryotic chromosomes, are specialized structures that protect chromosome ends and participate in a number of processes of a great cellular relevance [1]. Their significance in human pathology is becoming of crucial importance because of their role in cellular senescence and carcinogenesis [2]. In addition, an increasing number of cancer predisposition syndromes have dysfunctional telomeres as a common trait.

A few base pairs (50-200 bp) of telomeric DNA sequence tend to be lost with each cell division. This progressive shortening can be compensated for by telomerase, a specialized enzyme that remains absent in most normal somatic cells but that becomes activated in the majority of tumour, germ and immortal cells hence allowing further proliferation with the acquired risk of mutation accumulation [3]. The machinery responsible for telomere maintenance is composed of a subset of proteins that directly bind to telomeres or have an either positive or negative indirect regulatory role. Some of these proteins are very important for their dual function as they also participate in different DNA damage response pathways that altogether cross-talk in a complex network of tumour suppressor pathways [4]. A deficiency in any of these proteins leads to serious disorders of genetic instability ultimately leading to cancer predisposition.

Syndromes with both telomere and DNA damage response defects are Ataxia Telangiectasia (AT; caused by mutations in *ATM*), Nijmegen breakage syndrome (NBS, originated by defects in *NBS1*), Bloom syndrome (BS) and Werner (WS) syndrome (caused by defective helicases BLM and WRN, respectively), and Fanconi anaemia (FA; a genetic disorder with at least 12 disease-related genes

involved). In addition, other DNA damage response proteins, such us DNA–PKcs or Ku, are also known to play a role in telomere stability. This review is focused in the dual role of these chromosome fragility proteins in telomere maintenance.

2. Telomere structure and shortening

Telomeres, from the Greek for telo (end) and mere (part), are specialized nucleoprotein complexes localized at the end of linear chromosomes and are required for cell viability, chromosome stability, protection from end-to-end fusions and nucleolytic degradation of chromosome ends, chromosome localization in the nucleus, chromosome segregation in anaphase, recombination of homologous chromosomes in meiotic cells and repair of DNA double strand breaks [1– 3,5,6]. Telomeres also play an important role as they distinguish natural DNA ends from DNA ends resulting from breakage events [7,8]. Telomeres should avoid being detected as broken chromosomes since the latter trigger DNA damage checkpoints and subsequent repair pathways [9].

Telomeric DNA is characterized by being a G-rich double stranded DNA composed by short fragments tandemly repeated with different sequences depending on the specie. Human telomeric DNA consists of repetitive hexanucleotide sequences $(TTAGGG)_n$ that span 5–15 kb [10,11] ending in a G-rich 3'-single-strand overhang evolutionary conserved among eukaryotes [12,13] that folds back to form a "T-loop" stabilized by several telomeric proteins [13,14].

Telomeres have been reported to shorten as a function of age and in vitro and in vivo cell division [15,16]. As somatic cells age, telomeres progressively shorten with each round of replication because of the "end-replication problem" at the 5'-end of the DNA



Fig. 1. Schematic model of the "end-replication problem": (A) template strands open up as to allow DNA polymerase to access and synthesize both leading and lagging (via Okazaki fragments) strand in $5' \rightarrow 3'$ direction. (B) RNA primers are eliminated, gaps are filled and DNA fragments ligated except the most terminal part that cannot be replenished, and thus, this chain shortens leaving unreplicated part of the telomeric sequence and a 3'-G-rich single-stranded overhang.

lagging strand. This shortening has been proposed to be the mitotic clock that sets the limit of a cell life span and so the mechanism that regulates the number of times a cell can divide before entering senescence [17,18]. This is due to the fact that conventional DNA polymerase can only synthesize in $5' \rightarrow 3'$ direction and so the 5'-end of the lagging strand will be shortened when compared to its template strand once the most terminal Okazaki's fragment-RNA primer is eliminated [16] (Fig. 1). The action of a $5' \rightarrow 3'$ exonuclease on the C-A rich strand also contributes to this phenomenon [19,20].

Every time a somatic human cell divides, about 50–200 bp of terminal DNA are lost [17,21] until eventually telomeres are so short that no further cell divisions can happen. This phenomenon, suggested to be a protection mechanism against cancer and known as replicative senescence, usually takes place after \sim 50 population doublings and then the cells become senescent, are unable to divide further, their genetic expression is altered and most of them will finally die (crisis). A sufficiently short telomere (or an unprotected telomere) may be the signal for replicative senescence in normal cells and then the cell will stop proliferating [15,17,22,23].

Nonetheless, this elevated telomere shortening rate cannot be fully explained by the replication problem alone. Some authors have revisited this model and proposed another one that predicts an S-phase-specific exonuclease acting after replication and hence exacerbating the 3'-overhang length compared with the 5'ends in a cell cycle-dependent fashion [5,19]. It has also been proposed that deficient DNA repair of certain lesions promotes telomere erosion [24]. For example, telomeres accumulate single-strand breaks produced by oxidative stress as this kind of damage is less efficiently repaired at telomeres [24,25]. In addition, epigenetic factors have also been reported to modulate telomere length [26,27]. None of these hypotheses are mutually exclusive and all of them may take place simultaneously.

When telomeres reach a critical shortening and cannot fulfil their normal functions, the resulting genomic instability allows acquisition of further mutations that in most of the affected cells promotes cellular death by apoptosis [28]. Derived from these observations, it would be predicted that activation of mechanisms that maintain telomere length would promote immortalisation [29]. Consistent with this, the majority of tumour and immortal cells up-regulate the enzyme telomerase that extends and stabilizes telomeric ends.

3. Telomere maintenance

Telomerase was first described by Carol Greider and Elizabeth Blackburn in 1985 in *Tetrahymena* [30], but it was not until 1989 when it was identified in humans [31]. Telomerase is a specialized DNA polymerase that adds telomeric arrays onto chromosome ends to compensate natural telomeric loss [3,30,32]. This enzyme is composed of two subunits, a catalitic protein subunit with retrotranscriptase activity (hTERT) and a RNA subunit (hTR) with a sequence complementary to the telomere sequence. This RNA component is used as a template to synthesize de novo telomeric sequences by reverse transcription at the very end of chromosomes [33].

The observations that (i) in spermatocytes and some human tumour cells, telomere erosion and elongation seems to be balanced with no apparent loss of telomeric DNA; (ii) telomeres are shorter in many tumours than in its adjacent tissues; (iii) telomeres shorten during cell division and (iv) in vivo telomeres are shorter in older people than in young people, provide evidence that telomerase is active in both tumour and germ-line cells, but not in normal somatic cells [16,25,34,35]. Telomerase activity has also been detected in some haematopoietic, epidermic and noncarcinogenic hepatic cells, supporting the notion that telomerase per se is not oncogenic [36–40]. However, in these tissues, telomerase activity is insufficient to maintain telomere length through life indefinitely and telomeres become progressively shorter with aging.

Apart from its role in stabilizing the telomeric repeats, it has been proposed that telomerase activity is a requirement for immortalisation of human cells [18,41]. During senescence, and thereafter (crisis), once telomeres become so short that cannot carry out their roles, most cells die because of their acquired genomic instability, but a few overcome crisis through activation of a mechanism that maintains telomere length although critically short [34,37,38,42]. Thus, telomerase activity has become a requirement for cells to become immortal, maintain their telomeres, acquire other mutations causing oncogenesis and develop tumours. That is the reason why telomerase is a prime candidate as a target for novel therapies against cancer.

Although most human tumours and immortal cell lines have active telomerase, there are a few immortal cell lines and tumours that are telomerase negative. Their main feature is a high degree of heterogeneity in telomere size, ranging from almost undetectable to extremely long telomeres, with more than 50 kb [43– 45]. This telomere length maintenance mechanism is known as alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) [46]. Despite the fact that ALT and telomerase can coexist in the same cells, there exist repressive factors that act in somatic hybrids from ALT and telomerase positive cells that abolish the ALT phenotype, but these factors remain to be elucidated [47].

Derived from studies with yeasts lacking telomerase, a recombination-mediated mechanism for telomere maintenance has been reported [48]. This pathway involves Rad52p and to some extent it could be extrapolated to eukaryotes [49]. Supporting the hypothesis of recombination as the mechanism for telomere lengthening in ALT cells, it has been shown that these cells contain specific nuclear structures termed ALT-associated promyelocitic leukemia (PML) bodies. These bodies consist of telomeric DNA and some telomeric proteins including Rad51 and Rad52 among others [50]. Although it has recently been demonstrated that in ALT cells telomeric DNA is copied to other telomeres, probably by recombination, and some participant proteins have been elucidated, all the components and mechanisms involved in this process are yet to be identified [51].

Repression of both telomerase and ALT mechanisms results in telomere shortening and finite proliferative capacity. In addition, cellular immortalisation and escape from crisis strictly depend on any of these two telomere maintenance pathways. These observations highlight the importance that telomere maintenance mechanisms harbour for anti-cancer therapy and drug development.

4. Telomere proteins

Despite the fact that telomeric ends and DNA double strand breaks (DSB) somehow resemble each other, the cellular machinery responds very differently to both structures. Thus, it seems obvious to hypothesize that telomeric structures are organized in a given way so as to be ignored by the DNA repair machinery. A series of studies on different species have reported an elevated number of telomere binding proteins. The most striking paradox is that many of these proteins are also DSB repair proteins [52–54].

Preceded by work on eukaryotes finding large telomeric DNA-protein complexes [55-57], and expecting that essential telomeric proteins might be evolutionary conserved, Zhong et al. identified in 1992 a specific telomeric DNA-binding protein called TTAGGG repeat factor 1 (TRF1) [58]. TRF1 forms a homodimer through its Myb-related domains and has been proposed to be an inhibitor of telomerase to control telomere elongation [59], although it does not affect telomerase activity or expression. TRF1 could act indirectly by emitting a negative signal to telomerase through some other proteins or by binding to telomere tracts thus impeding telomerase access to its natural substrate [59]. One of these mediator proteins could be Tankyrase, which binds to TRF1 via its ankyrin domain and when overexpressed releases TRF1 from the telomeres promoting thus its elongation [60].

In 1997, another telomere binding protein with Myb-related domains was described and termed TRF2 [61,62]. TRF2 maintains telomere integrity, as inhibition of TRF2 results in loss of G-strand overhangs and induces covalent fusion of chromosome ends [59,63,64]. Another function of mammalian telomeres that has been reported to be mediated by TRF2 is the activation of the apoptotic response and cell cycle arrest involving the ATM/p53 pathway, in a manner similar to the response to DSB [65].

Electron microscopic analysis revealed that a high proportion of chromosomes form a T-loop structure at their very end, as previously mentioned. These structures are formed through strand-invasion of the singlestrand G-rich overhang folded back into the double strand telomeric sequence. This formation is mediated by TRF1 and TRF2. Although the exact biochemical activities that may take place are not known, it has been reported that TRF2 binds at the tail-loop junction in a very specific manner while TRF1 binds along the T-loop. This particular conformation creates a difference between chromosome ends and DSBs thus preventing telomere attrition and the activation of the DNA repair machinery avoiding the ulterior phenotypes associated with telomere impairment [14].

In mammals, the preferred way to repair DSBs is through an error-prone pathway termed non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) using DNA-PKcs/Ku80 as the key proteins involved in it [66-69]. Ku is an abundant heterodimer formed by Ku70/Ku80 subunits that play a key role not only in NHEJ but also in V(D)J recombination, DNA replication, transcriptional regulation, telomere maintenance, replicative senescence, cell cycle regulation and tumour suppression [70-77]. Despite being one of the main NHEJ repair proteins, Ku80/70 tether along the telomeric sequence through interaction with TRF1 providing essential telomeric capping, independent of the other member of the complex, DNA-PKcs. This observation is corroborated by the fact that a high frequency of telomeric fusions appears in metaphase spreads from mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) deficient for Ku80 [50,59,78-80]. Ku is also a negative regulator of telomerase [81].

DNA–PKcs is a serine/threonine protein kinase that contains a phosphoinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K) domain, resembling ATM, another protein with a negative effect in telomere maintenance and chromosome instability [82–85]. DNA–PKcs participates in telomere capping, not in telomere maintenance, as is apparent from work using mice defective for DNA–PKcs whose cells have abnormally long telomeres and an increased percentage of terminal fusions compared with mice with different backgrounds [86–88]. This indicates that DNA–PK complex proteins are involved both in telomere length regulation and end capping. Resembling Ku80, DNA–PKcs interacts with telomerase [89] and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) [90], and it was suggested that it is involved in the processing of telomeres produced by leading strand synthesis [87].

Other repair proteins that also bind to human telomeres are the triplex forming proteins Mre11/ Rad50/NBS1 (MRN complex) together with their associated protein, BRCA1 [91]. This complex coimmunoprecipitates together with TRF2 although it is thought that only a small fraction of the MRN complex associates with telomeres. An intriguing characteristic is that albeit Mre11 and Rad50-binding to TRF2 is cell cycle-independent, NBS1 recruitment to telomeres is S-phase specific [88]. The role of this complex on mammalian telomeres is not known although it could have a role in the release of a telomerase substrate. This same complex has been demonstrated to colocalize with PML bodies in ALT cells, especially in late S-G₂ phase of the cell cycle [92] and together with some other proteins involved in homologous recombination (HR). This observation could point for a function of the MRN complex in telomere lengthening in ALT cells (Fig. 2).

HR proteins such as Rad54 and Rad51D are also involved in telomere length maintenance [93,94]. Rad54 plays a role in telomere capping since when absent, a high frequency of end-to-end fusions and accelerated shortening is observed. An intriguing observation is the fact that double mutants Rad54^{-/} $^/DNA-PK^{-/-}$, compared to single mutants, show an even higher proportion of fusions. This means that the fusion-forming mechanism is not likely to involve HR. Regarding Rad51D, it also plays a role in protecting chromosome ends from telomere erosion both in telomerase positive and negative cells [94]. Thus, all the evidence leads to the conclusion that the two major mechanisms of DSB repair are involved in telomere stability



Fig. 2. T-loop ending of telomeres with some of its associated telomeric proteins.

5. Telomeres and cancer

As previously discussed, in most human somatic cells, progressive telomere shortening occurs with each cell division up to a point termed "replicative senescence" [95]. This observation has led to the suggestion that telomeres act as a mitotic clock that limits further cell division [41]. If a cell bypasses this first checkpoint via inactivation of p53 or pRb [96] it can divide further with consequent extensive telomere erosion. These telomeres will lose their protective functions causing chromosomal fusions, continuous "breakage-fusion-bridge" cycles, derived chromosome imbalances, gene amplifications, and ultimately leading to the generation of complex non-reciprocal translocations, a hallmark feature of adult solid tumours and genomic instability in general [97]. Damage-induced cellular responses are also activated during this process referred as "crisis" [34]. The final fate of crisis is cell death but a subset of cells may overcome this block. Clones emerging from crisis invariably either reactivate telomerase or the ALT mechanism allowing telomere length maintenance, extended life-span, and thus, immortality [34,42,98]. Consistent with this, two supportive facts have been observed: (i) telomerase activity appears in most tumours and immortal cell lines [38,99-102], although in some other cases, down-regulation of additional proteins such as p16 or inactivation of the Rb/p16 pathway is needed for this immortalisa-



Fig. 3. Cellular responses to telomere shortening. Once telomeres shorten beyond a critical length, if cellular checkpoints are intact, cells activate apoptosis. Conversely, if checkpoints are bypassed, cells survive, continue proliferating and telomeric attrition goes on up to "crisis". Then, if a telomere maintenance mechanism is activated, cells might acquire the immortal but genetically unstable status and continue dividing giving rise to a tumor.

tion [103] and (ii) all the above mentioned events are typical of tumour cells and tumour progression [104,105]. It is remarkable that apart from its role in tumourigenesis, telomeres seem to be involved in premature aging [106] and those related diseases, some of which will be further discussed [17,84, 85,107,108].

All this evidence leads the conclusion that telomere dysfunction would appear to have two outcomes in somatic cells depending on the integrity of checkpoint mechanisms: respond to checkpoints with senescence/apoptosis or proliferate resulting in genomic instability. The rare cells that continue to proliferate and emerge from crisis, having accumulated additional mutations, genetic lesions and inactivated tumour suppressor checkpoints, are those that will ultimately develop cancer in a Darwinist positive selection (Fig. 3).



Fig. 4. An integrated view of the interplay between chromosome instability syndromes and telomere biology. Consequences of telomeric anomaly are common factors within a series of malignancies that deal with genomic instability. The proteins that when defective cause these syndromes are in turn directly or indirectly involved in telomere maintenance.

6. Telomeres in genome instability syndromes

Chromosome aberrations, genomic instability and cancer predisposition are the hallmarks of a number of syndromes in which the defective genes play important role in recognizing, signalling and/or repairing DNA damage, DNA processing, cell cycle regulation, apoptosis and/or telomeric maintenance. Defects in any of these genes can lead to cancer predisposition and to a number of clinical defects. These syndromes share various features at the clinical and cellular level that can be explained in most cases by interactions and molecular links among them, creating a network of pathways involved in DNA repair and DNA damage response [4].

In this review, we will focus on the genomic instability syndromes that display some common features due in part to the fact that the corresponding gene products are directly or indirectly involved in telomere biology. Although in most cases the exact function that corresponding gene products play on telomeres is yet undefined, what it seems clear is that the compromised telomeric stability in these syndromes is a major drawback for the maintenance of chromosomal integrity. Defining the way in which these proteins take part on telomeric maintenance will help us to understand the molecular biology of these diseases, and therefore, to develop knowledge-based therapies (Fig. 4).

7. Ataxia telangiectasia

AT is a rare, pleiotropic, autosomal recessive inherited disease with a complex clinical phenotype. Its main features usually appear in the second year of life and are progressive neuronal degeneration (cerebellar ataxia), ocular telangiectasia, immunodeficiency, hypogonadism, genomic instability, premature ageing, short stature, mild diabetes mellitus, and cancer predisposition (particularly lymphomas and leukaemia) [109–111]. The frequency of ATM gene carriers is about 1/100 and the estimated frequency of affects is about 1/40,000. Female carriers have been reported to be predisposed to breast cancer [112,113]. At the cellular level, the AT associated features are chromosomal instability, lack of radio-resistant DNA synthesis, hypersensitivity to ionising radiation (IR), cell cycle-checkpoints impairment, shortened telomeres, defective response to growth stimuli, and a high level of reactive oxygen species [110,114–116].

The gene causing this disease, *ATM* is a tumour suppressor gene that was first identified in 1995 by positional cloning on chromosome 11q22-23 by Savitsky et al. [117]. The predicted ATM protein belongs to the family of the PI 3-kinases that are involved in mitogenic signal transduction, meiotic recombination, and cell cycle control [118,109]. Other members of this family are DNA–PKcs, and ATR (Ataxia Telangiectasia and Rad3 related), a defective protein in Seckel syndrome involved in UV-damage and stalled replication fork signalling [119].

ATM responds rapidly to DSBs by phosphorylating a subset of proteins involved in different signaling pathways [109]: ATM phosphorylates p53, a key player at the G1/S cell cycle checkpoint; ChK2 kinase, with a role at G2/M checkpoint; Mdm2 protein; Brca1, which is involved in the S-phase and G2/M cell cycle checkpoints; inactivates CtIP, a negative regulator of BRCA1 and also phosphorylates the DNA repair proteins NBS1 and FANCD2, among other substrates [109,120–124].

A possible role of ATM in telomere maintenance has been extensively studied during the last decade as there exist a large subset of direct and indirect results that support this hypothesis: (i) ATM shares some degree of homology with the yeast Tell gene that participates in telomere metabolism [83,125,126]; (ii) cells derived from AT patients show an elevated frequency of chromosomal aberrations, with end-toend associations the most frequent [85,127,128]; (iii) primary fibroblasts both from human patients and $Atm^{-/-}$ mice seem to undergo premature senescence in culture [129,130]; and AT cells also show an abnormal response to agents inducing reactive oxigen species (ROS) and a high level of oxidative stress [115,131], a phenomenon linked to telomere shortening.

Metcalfe et al. observed an accelerated telomere shortening in AT accompanied by a high number of terminal fusions [108]. This observation could be a plausible explanation for the genomic instability previously observed in the cells. This telomeric attrition and accelerated senescence also involves p53, one of the ATM substrates [132] and as it was shown with the double knock-out mice $Atm^{-/-}/Terc^{-/-}$, both ATM and telomeres have a role at organismal phenotype level, with ATM being proposed as a protective factor of telomeres [133,134]. A striking finding regarding telomeres and AT cells was the presence of an excess of extrachromosomic telomeric signals. On metaphases, these can be seen as extrachromosomic signals that represent broken telomeres or defective replication intermediates (i.e. single-strand G-rich fragments) that correlate with shorter telomeres and elevated frequency of terminal fusions [84]. A possible explanation of this phenomenon could be provided by the excess of oxidative stress observed in these cells [135]. An increased production of ROS accelerates telomere shortening, as lesions, produced at telomeric level (specially, 8-OxoG) are abnormally repaired [24,25] and telomeres are prone to be attacked by oxidative radicals because of their G-rich sequence [136].

8. Nijmegen breakage syndrome

NBS is a rare autosomal recessive disease. The *NBS1* gene is located in chromosome 8q12 [137] and positional cloning and biochemical approaches identified the *NBS1* gene encoding the p95 protein, also named nibrin [138,139]. Although NBS1 does not share homologies with any other known protein, it contains two domains: a breast cancer carboxy terminal (BCRT) domain and a fork-head associated (FHA) domain that appears in some proteins with roles in cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair [140]. This syndrome is clinically characterized by microcephaly, a distinct facial appearance, growth retardation, immunodeficiency, progressive mental

retardation, and a strong predisposition to lymphoid malignancy and respiratory tract infections [141,142].

Further investigation has revealed that cells derived from NBS patients display characteristic abnormalities similar to those observed in AT, including spontaneous and induced chromosomal instability, sensitivity to IR, fail to induce p53 at the G1/S boundary, defective cell cycle checkpoints and lack of radioresistant DNA synthesis [143-146]. This is the reason NBS has long been considered as a variant of AT. However, their clinical manifestation differs in some points and they are also genetically distinct [137]. The overlapping of NBS at the clinical and cellular level with other syndromes with impaired response to DSBs, together with the association of NBS1 with phosporylaled histone H2AX at the site of damage shortly after IR exposure, suggests that NBS might be caused by a defective response to DSBs [139,147]. It is known that NBS1 is phosphorylated in response to UV, IR, methylmethane sulphonate or hydroxyurea. NBS1 phosphorylation is ATM-dependent only after treatment with IR for the subsequent activation of the S-phase checkpoint. In the other mutagens, ATR could be the kinase in charge [148– 1511.

As previously mentioned, the NBS1 product has been found to interact with two proteins to form a complex: Mre11 and Rad50 [138]. The presence of NBS1 is essential for the formation of this complex as NBS1 deficiency abrogates the IR-induced complex assembly [139,152]. These three proteins are all involved in the processing of IR-induced DSB and in other processes such as meiotic recombination (VDJ), rearrangement and telomere maintenance [153]. Because these processes are defective in the NBS patients' cells, chromosomal aberrations accumulate and immunodeficiency occurs.

From studies in yeast, it is known that the Mre11 complex participates in the maintenance of telomeric length, producing ssDNA, thus making telomeres more accessible to telomerase. In the case of telomerase deficient yeasts, the MRN complex is also needed for the recombination pathway of telomere enlargement [154–156]. In mammals, the MRN complex binds to TRF2 specifically during S-phase in the case of NBS, and cell cycle independently in the case of Mre11 and Rad50, indicating a role in telomeric replication or T-loop formation [91]. In cells from

NBS patients, both telomere shortening and premature senescence are observed, but reintroduction of hTERT alone is not sufficient to restore the telomeric defect. The fact that both NBS and hTERT need to be introduced to recover a wild type cellular phenotype, might suggest that NBS1 plays a role in telomere extension more than in any other step of telomere biology [157].

As in yeasts, a role of MRN complex has been reported for telomeric ends in human ALT cells. The interaction depends on the direct association of NBS1 with TRF1 at PML nuclear bodies, as was demonstrated both by co-immunoprecipitation and yeast two-hybrid analysis. This association takes place at the G_2 phase of the cell cycle and it is at that point when DNA synthesis is detected at the PML bodies [158]. NBS1 is necessary not only for the whole complex to congregate at PML bodies, but for the association of other proteins involved in the assembly of these nuclear bodies such as BRCA1 and the subsequent DNA synthesis at these sites [92]. A recent report describes a novel role of NBS1, which is related to telomere-derived cellular responses. Eller et al. reported that after introduction into the cell of DNA oligonucleotides homologous to telomere overhangs so as to mimic unprotected telomeres, the cell triggers an S-phase checkpoint mediated by NBS1, activates p53 via ATM and undergoes apoptosis [159].

9. Bloom syndrome

BS is a rare recessive disorder associated with growth retardation, immunodeficiency and increased risk of malignancy at an early age [160]. This disorder is represented by a single gene, BLM, mapped to the long arm of chromosome 15 (15q26.1). This gene encodes a 1417 amino acids protein. The same as WRN, BLM protein shows similarity to sequences of RecQ subfamily of ATP-dependent DNA helicases, including RecQ, Sgs1, Rqh1, and the human RECQL [161,162]. Analysis of recQ mutants has indicated that RecQ proteins participate in DNA repair, replication, and HR, but act as suppressors of illegitimate recombination [163,164]. BLM protein is a member of a large complex termed BRCA associated surveillance complex (BASC), that also contains other members of the replication, recombination and repair machinery,

as for example PCNA, RAD51, BRCA1, ATM, MRN complex, MSH2 and others [165].

The clinical features of this syndrome are pre- and postnatal growth deficiency (small body size), sunsensitivity, facial skin lesions (telangiectasic, hypoand hyperpigmented skin), immunodeficiency with increased susceptibility to infections and respiratory illness in particular, and an increased susceptibility to cancer, particularly leukemia [160,161]. BS cells show marked genomic instability; in particular, hyper-recombination between sister chromatids and homologous chromosomes [166] although they also exhibit insertions, deletions, loss of heterozygosity, telomere associations and chromosome figures such as quadriradials [167]. BS cells are hypersensitive to UV, hydroxyurea, alkylating agents and up to some extent, to IR. BLM is phosphorylated by ATM and also by ATR although the exact function in preserving genome integrity still remains to be elucidated [168,169]. This observation together with the fact that BLM suppresses DSB during replication probably avoiding inappropriate recombination, supports the involvement of BLM in the DNA repair machinery [170].

The cellular functions of BLM reported to date are abundant and diverse: BLM can catalyse branch migration of Holliday junctions which prevents the collapse of replication forks [171]. BLM has also been found to localize within PML bodies in ALT cells, and accumulates in the S-phase of the cell cycle [172,173]. It is also needed for nuclear localization of the MRN complex after replication fork arrest [174]. Related to the abovementioned interactions, there exists a interplay between BLM and p53 proteins as both colocalize at stalled replication forks in a BLM-dependent manner together with Rad51. Inactivation of both p53 and BLM leads to a higher HR or sister chromatid exchanges than with BLM inactivation alone, hence suggesting that both proteins participate in complementary pathways during the process of replication fork resolution [175]. It could be said that BLM functions in the early response to DNA damage and promotes the ulterior recruitment of repair proteins at the stalled forks [176].

The Saccharomyces cerevisae SGS1 gene encodes a RecQ-like DNA helicase homologous to human WRN and BLM. In telomerase negative (est2) yeast cells also lacking SGS1, a high rate of telomeric shortening, accelerated senescence and poor growing efficiency, due in part to a G_2/M cell cycle arrest, have been observed. The fact that introduction of murine *Wrn* gene restores the G_2/M arrest, suggests the hypothesis that the telomeric role that SGS1 plays might be conserved in mammals [177,178]. As previously mentioned, this hypothesis was confirmed for BLM in ALT cells [173,179–181]. In these cells, BLM interacts with TRF2 (either directly or indirectly) through its RQC motif resulting in an increased telomeric length. A plausible explanation could be that BLM protein unwinds the G-rich 3'-overhangs allowing the initiation and strand-invasion mechanism between telomeric sequences carried out by TRF2. This event would be part of the recombinationmediated telomere elongation process [181].

Contrary to the behaviour observed in ALT cells, in telomerase positive/ $BLM^{-/-}$ cells, there is an increase in telomeric length. This would suggest that BLM somehow limits the amount of telomeric DNA, maybe by processing the 3'-end of the telomeric repeats [182].

10. Werner syndrome

WS is an autosomal recessive disease characterized by premature aging and associated symptoms including atherosclerosis, osteoporosis, greying and thinning of the hair, diabetes mellitus, bilateral ocular cataracts, and a high incidence of several types of tumours, particularly sarcomas, although to a more limited extent than in BS patients [183–185]. Hallmark features of cells derived from WS patients include genomic instability (chromosome translocations, deletions and rearrangements) and hypersensitivity to certain DNA damaging agents that cause replication arrest and/or DSB at the replication fork, such as camptothecin or 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide [186-189]. The gene defective in WS encodes a protein, WRN, with $3' \rightarrow 5'$ helicase function that shares some homology with other RecQ helicases and with $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity, what makes it different from other proteins of the RecQ family [190,191]. This protein participates in replication, DNA repair, recombination and transcription [192,193]. WRN localizes predominantly in the nucleoli, but at the S-phase of the cell cycle relocates to replication foci and sites of DNA damage [193-195].

In detail, WS cells exhibit premature replicative senescence, a defect in S-phase progression and hyper-recombination [196]. Consistent with this, its yeast homologue, SGS1 suppresses illegitimate recombination, suggesting an evolutionary conserved function [163]. Using its helicase activity, WRN protein binds with replication protein A (RPA) to unwind DNA duplexes during replication [196]. The coordinated action with RPA is also of importance for the general understanding of telomere biology [197]. WRN helicase activity also appears to have a role in resolving Holliday junction structures [198,199]. Regarding its function on DNA repair, WRN interacts with Ku and DNA-PKcs which, in turn, modulates WRN exonuclease activity, avoiding excessive processing of non-compatible ends and, thus, undesired gene deletions [200-204]. WS cells also exhibit large deletions, chromosome rearrangements and shortened lifespan, although in general, this chromosomal defect is not as dramatic as the observed in other genome instability syndromes [187,205].

Similar to the above mentioned syndromes, WS cells display elevated rates of telomere shortening and deficient telomere repair, accelerated telomere shortening and a wide range of telomere lengths [206]. After introduction of telomerase catalytic subunit hTERT, the defect in premature replicative senescence is corrected [207-210]. However, telomerase does not completely restore the chromosomal instability observed in WS cells. These observations suggest that telomere impairment alone is not the only cause of the elevated rate of the chromosomal rearrangements that happen in these cells. Other evidence that supports its potential role on telomeres and correlates it with DNA repair is the association of WRN with the Ku heterodimer that, as stated before, participates in telomere balance, resulting in the WRN exonuclease activity enhancement [211,212]. Although WS cells display an accelerated telomere shortening, telomere lengths at the time of senescence are longer than in normal cells [207] so the premature senescence observed might not be directly triggered by short telomeres, although it seems clear that there exists a telomeric defect since telomerase is capable of restoring the senescence defect [209,212]. There are several plausible explanations for this: (i) WRN could act as a protective protein that caps the end of telomeres that, when unprotected, activate the senescence pathways; (ii) WRN helicase is the key function as it confers an accessible substrate to polymerases in telomeres [213]; or (iii) there is a failure to resolve stalled replication forks at telomeres causing an increase in the rate of DSBs production at these sequences [214].

Regardless of the mechanism involved, there is no doubt that telomere dysfunction plays a role in some of the cellular defects observed in this syndrome, although it is almost sure that chromosomal instability displayed in WS cells is not directly caused by the telomere defect.

11. Fanconi anaemia

FA is a rare autosomic recessive genetic disorder characterized by a high number of developmental defects, progressive bone-marrow failure, a 1000 fold risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia, a high predisposition to develop solid tumours, and an increased of both spontaneous and DNA cross-linkers-induced chromosome instability [215]. The estimated frequency of carriers is 1 in 300, although in some ethnic groups, as for example, the population of South Africa, Ashkenazi Jews and some ethnical groups in Spain (unpublished observation), this frequency is much higher due to founder effects and consanguinity [216–218].

This syndrome is very heterogeneous phenotypically and genetically, making its clinical diagnosis rather difficult [219]. Thus, hypersensitivity of FA cells to the clastogenic effect of diepoxybutane or mitomycin C provides a unique marker for a conclusive diagnosis [220]. Among the most common birth defects or features are short stature, skeletal anomalies in thumbs, forearms, hips and ribs, kidney malformations, "café-au-lait" spots on skin, microcephaly, microphthalmia, mental retardation, gastro-intestinal difficulties, hypogonadism in males and defects in tissues separating chambers of the heart.

Unlike the previously discussed syndromes, at least 12 genes are involved in FA: *FANCA*, *FANCB*, *FANCC*, *FANCD1/BRCA2*, *FANCD2*, *FANCE*, *FANCF*, *FANCG*, *FANCI*, *FANCJ*, *FANCL* and *FANCM* [4,221–223]. The most prevalent complementation group is FA-A, accounting for ~65% of all patients, followed by FA-C and FA-G [224]. The key protein in the FA pathway is FANCD2, whose

activation via monoubiquitination depends on the formation of an upstream core complex formed by nine sub-units: FANCA, -B, -C, -E, -F, -G, -I, -L and -M [4,225,226]. FANCD2 monoubiquitination takes place in response to cross-linking agents such as DEB or MMC and the activated form associates with BRCA1 in damage-induced foci [225]. FA cells deficient for FANCD2 are thus sensitive to mitomycin C but also have a degree of sensitivity and an abnormal S-phase check-point in response to IR due to the fact that FANCD2 is phosphorylated by ATM with the mediation of NBS1 [224,227]. FANCD2 phosphorylation can also be achieved via ATR but in response to interstrand cross-links [228]. These observations highlight the central role of FA in several DNA repair/ damage response pathways [4].

It is common knowledge that telomeres are involved in proliferation capacity [229], and telomere integrity is essential for the normal functionality of haematological system as late-generation telomerase knock-out mice show a diminished haematopoietic production [220,230]. Both haematopoietic stem cells and lymphocytes express telomerase in a regulated manner, although this up-regulation is insufficient for preventing telomere erosion [40,231] and may lead to a poor proliferation of haematological cells. This is supported by the correlation between excess telomere shortening and haematopoietic system defects in a number of genetic syndromes including FA [232,233].

The nature of this telomeric shortening is controversial as there might be different sources of telomeric erosion. Our laboratory's work, demonstrated that not only a telomeric shortening is observed in peripheral blood samples from FA patients, but also a high proportion of extra-chromosomic TTAGGG signals and an increased number of telomeric fusions compared with healthy individuals, resembling AT [234]. This could be explained not only because of replicative shortening but also as a result of excessive telomere breakage in FA lymphocytes. FA cells have a defect in oxygen metabolism (hipersensitivity to high levels of oxygen tensions) and increased formation of 8-OxodG due to a high burden of intracellular ROS [235] and it is known that free radicals accelerate telomere shortening [236]. This evidence suggests redox by-products as one of the most probable sources of telomere shortening on FA cells although a more direct role of FA proteins cannot be disregarded. This

role could be mediated via the interaction of FA with MRN and with proteins involved in HR repair [237]. Regarding the end-to-end fusions found on FA lymphocytes, they are not associated with an abnormal TRF2 end-capping activity, as TRF2 binds to telomeres independently of the FA pathway [234]. Extensive efforts are underway to unravel the role that telomeres play on FA or that of FA proteins play on telomere biology.

12. Concluding remarks

Telomere maintenance has emerged as a key biochemical process in the regulation of cancer and aging. The mechanism involved in telomere homeostasis compromises a number of proteins and telomerase, a highly specialized enzyme. But this is not an as specific a process as it could seem on the first sight: most of the "telomeric" proteins are indeed DNA repair/damage response proteins with relevant functions in different cellular pathways. Defects in these proteins cause a variety of syndromes (FA, AT, NBS, WS and BS) with shared defects, as most of the affected pathways are interconnected [4].

As detailed in this chapter, telomere impairment is a common trait among these disorders and, derived from this defect, an array of secondary signs might come up to complete the characteristic phenotypic features linked to these diseases. In the case of AT and FA, the responsible proteins are thought to play a direct or indirect protective role for telomeres since, when defective, a high rate of end-to-end fusions and accelerated telomere shortening is observed. Further studies are, however, required to determine if the excess of telomere shortening in FA is related to the replicative history of the bone-marrow cells. The MRN complex is involved in telomere extension both in telomerase positive and negative cells through binding to TRF2. Also, BLM binds to TRF2 in ALT cells resembling WRN, but it has a negative role in telomerase positive cells by limiting the amount of telomeric DNA. It is well established that a telomere defect underlies in WS cells, but the exact function of WRN in telomere biology is yet unknown.

As a conclusion, we could point out that although a long way remains to elucidate the exact mechanisms by which chromosome fragility proteins modulate telomere maintenance, an essential part of the road has already been walked. Further research on this topic will lead us to a better understanding not only of the mechanism of telomere maintenance but also of the molecular biology of the pathways preventing chromosome instability and hence avoiding cancer development in the general population.

Acknowledgements

Our group is in part supported by the Generalitat de Catalunya (project SGR-00197-2002), the Spanish Ministry of Health and Consumption (project FIS PI020145 and FIS-Red G03/073), the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology (projects SAF 2002-03234, SAF2002-11833-E and SAF 2003-00328), Fondos FEDER and the Commission of the European Union (projects HPMF-CT-2001-01330, FIGH-CT-2002-00217, and FI6R-CT-2003-508842). E.C. is contracted under the auspices of the European Union. J.S. is supported by a "Ramón y Cajal" project entitled "Genome Instability and DNA repair" co-financed by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology and the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona.

References

- E.H. Blackburn, Switching and signalling at the telomere, Cell (2001) 106.
- [2] W.C. Hahn, Role of telomeres and telomerase in the pathogenesis of human cancer, J. Clin. Oncol. 31 (2003) 2034– 2043.
- [3] S.R.W.L. Chan, E.H. Blackburn, Telomeres and telomerase, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B (2004) 359.
- [4] J. Surralles, S.P. Jackson, M. Jasin, M.B. Kastan, S.C. West, H. Joenje, Molecular cross-talk among chromosome fragility syndromes, Genes Dev. 18 (2004) 1359–1370.
- [5] P. Slijepcevic, Telomere length regulation—a view from the individual chromosome perspective, Exp. Cell Res. 244 (1998) 268.
- [6] C.I. Nugent, G. Bosco, L.O. Ross, S.K. Evans, A.P. Salinger, J.K. Moore, J.E. Haber, V. Lundblad, Telomere maintenance is dependent on activities required for end repair of doublestrand breaks, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) 657–660.
- [7] B. McClintock, The stability of broken ends of chromosomes of Zea Mays, Genetics 26 (1941) 234–282.
- [8] H.J. Muller, The remaking of chromosomes, Collect. Net. 8 (1938) 182–185.

- [9] L.L. Sandell, V.A. Zakian, Loss of a yeast telomere: arrest, recovery, and chromosome loss, Cell 75 (1993) 729–739.
- [10] R.K. Moyzis, J.M. Buckingham, L.S. Cram, M. Dani, Ll. Deaven, M.D. Jones, J. Mayne, R.L. Ratcliff, J.R. Wu, A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)_n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85 (1988) 6622–6626.
- [11] T. de Lange, L. Shiue, R.M. Myers, D.R. Cox, S.L. Naylor, A.M. Killery, H.E. Varmus, Structure and variability of human chromosome ends, Mol. Cell Biol. 10 (1990) 518–527.
- [12] E.R. Henderson, E.H. Blackburn, An overhanging 3' terminus is a conserved feature of telomeres, Mol. Cell Biol. 9 (1989) 345–348.
- [13] J.D. Griffith, L. Comeau, S. Rosenfield, R.M. Stansel, A. Bianchi, H. Moss, T. de Lange, Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop, Cell 97 (1999) 503–514.
- [14] B. van Steensel, A. Smogorzewska, T. de Lange, TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions, Cell 92 (1998) 401–413.
- [15] J. Lindsey, N.I. McGill, L.A. Lindsey, D.K. Green, H.J. Cooke, In vivo loss of telomeric repeats with age in humans, Mutat. Res. 256 (1991) 45–48.
- [16] C.B. Harley, A.B. Futcher, C.W. Greider, Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts, Nature 345 (1990) 458– 460.
- [17] R.C. Allsopp, H. Vaziri, C. Patterson, S. Goldstein, E.V. Younglai, A.B. Futcher, C.W. Greider, C.B. Harley, Telomere length predicts replicative capacity of human fibroblasts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89 (1992) 10114–10118.
- [18] C.V. Harley, Telomere loss: mitotic clock or genetic time bomb? Mutat. Res. 256 (1991) 271–282.
- [19] V.L. Makarov, Y. Hirose, J.P. Langmore, Long G tails at both ends of human chromosomes suggest a C strand degradation mechanism for telomere shortening, Cell 88 (1997) 657–666.
- [20] R.J. Wellinger, K. Ethier, P. Labrecque, V.A. Zakian, Evidence for a new step in telomere maintenance, Cell 85 (1993) 423–433.
- [21] M.Z. Levy, R.C. Allsopp, A.B. Futcher, C.W. Greider, C.B. Harley, Telomere end-replication problem and cell aging, J. Mol. Biol. 225 (1992) 951–960.
- [22] H. Vaziri, F. Schachter, I. Uchida, L. Wei, X. Zhu, R. Effros, D. Cohen, C.B. Harley, Loss of telomeric DNA during aging of normal and trisomy 21 human lymphocytes, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 52 (1993) 661–667.
- [23] N.D. Hastie, M. Dempster, M.G. Dunlop, A.M. Thompson, D.K. Green, R.C. Allshire, Telomere reduction in human colorectal carcinoma and with ageing, Nature 346 (1991) 866–868.
- [24] P.A. Kruk, N.J. Rampino, V.A. Bohr, DNA damage and repair in telomeres: relation to aging, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92 (1995) 258–262.
- [25] S. Petersen, G. Saretzki, T. von Zglinicki, Preferential accumulation of single-stranded regions in telomeres of human fibroblasts, Exp. Cell Res. 239 (1998) 152–160.
- [26] J. Surralles, M.P. Hande, R. Marcos, P. Lansdorp, Accelerated telomere shortening in the human inactive X chromosome, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 65 (1999) 1617–1622.

- [27] M. Garcia-Cao, R. O'Sullivan, A.H. Peters, T. Jenuwein, M.A. Blasco, Epigenetic regulation of telomere length in mammalian cells by the Suv39h1 and Suv39h2 histone methyltransferases, Nat. Genet. 36 (2004) 94–99.
- [28] T. de Lange, Protection of mammalian telomeres, Oncogene 21 (2002) 532–534.
- [29] W.E. Wright, J.W. Shay, Cellular senescence as a tumourprotection mechanism: the essential role of counting, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 11 (2001) 98–103.
- [30] C.W. Greider, E.H. Blackburn, Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts, Cell 43 (1985) 405–413.
- [31] G.B. Morin, The human telomere terminal transferase enzyme is a ribonucleoprotein that synthesizes TTAGGG repeats, Cell 59 (1989) 521–529.
- [32] G.L. Yu, J.D. Bradley, L.D. Attardi, E.H. Blackburn, In vivo alteration of telomere sequences and senescence caused by mutated Tetrahymena telomerase RNAs, Nature 344 (1990) 126–132.
- [33] J. Feng, W.D. Funk, S.S. Wang, S.L. Weinrich, A.A. Avilion, C.P. Chiu, R.R. Adams, E. Chang, R.C. Allsopp, J. Yu, et al. The RNA component of human telomerase, Science 269 (1995) 1236–1241.
- [34] C.M. Counter, A.A. Avilion, C.E. LeFeuvre, N.G. Stewart, C.W. Greider, C.B. Harley, S. Bacchetti, Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity, EMBO J. 11 (1992) 1921–1929.
- [35] T. de Lange, L. Shiue, R.M. Myers, D.R. Cox, S.L. Naylor, A.M. Killery, H.E. Varmus, Structure and variability of human chromosome ends, Mol. Cell Biol. (1990) 10.
- [36] S.W. Tsao, D.K. Zhang, R.Y. Cheng, T.S. Wan, Telomerase activation in human cancers, Chin. Med. J. 111 (1998) 745– 750.
- [37] C.M. Counter, J. Gupta, C.B. Harley, B. Leber, S. Bacchetti, Telomerase activity in normal leukocytes and in hematologic malignancies, Blood 85 (1995) 2315– 2320.
- [38] N.W. Kim, M.A. Piatyszek, K.R. Prowse, C.B. Harley, M.D. West, P.L. Ho, G.M. Coviello, W.E. Wright, S.L. Weinrich, J.W. Shay, Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer, Science 266 (1994) 2011– 2015.
- [39] A.G. Bodnar, N.W. Kim, R.B. Effros, C.P. Chiu, Mechanism of telomerase induction during T cell activation, Exp. Cell Res. (1996) 228.
- [40] M. Engelhardt, R. Kumar, J. Albanell, R. Pettengell, W. Han, M.A. Moore, Telomerase regulation, cell cycle, and telomere stability in primitive hematopoietic cells, Blood 90 (1997) 182–193.
- [41] C.B. Harley, H. Vaziri, C.M. Counter, R.C. Allsopp, The telomere hypothesis of cellular aging, Exp. Gerontol. 27 (1992) 375–382.
- [42] C.M. Counter, H.W. Hirte, S. Bacchetti, C.B. Harley, Telomerase activity in human ovarian carcinoma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 2900–2904.

- [43] R.R. Reddel, T.M. Bryan, J.P. Murnane, Immortalized cells with no detectable telomerase activity. A review, Biochemistry (Moscow) 62 (1997) 1254–1262.
- [44] T. Tsutsui, S. Kumakura, Y. Tamura, T.W. Tsutsui, M. Sekiguchi, T. Higuchi, J.C. Barrett, Immortal, telomerasenegative cell lines derived from a Li-Fraumeni syndrome patient exhibit telomere length variability and chromosomal and minisatellite instabilities, Carcinogenesis 24 (2003) 953– 965.
- [45] T.M. Bryan, A. Englezou, J. Gupta, S. Bacchetti, R.R. Reddel, Telomere elongation in immortal human cells without detectable telomerase activity, EMBO J. 14 (1995) 4240– 4248.
- [46] J.A. Londono-Vallejo, H. Der-Sarkissian, L. Cazes, S. Bacchetti, R.R. Reddel, Alternative lengthening of telomeres is characterized by high rates of telomeric exchange, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 2324–2327.
- [47] K. Perrem, L.M. Colgin, A.A. Neumann, T.R. Yeager, R.R. Reddel, Coexistence of alternative lengthening of telomeres and telomerase in hTERT-transfected GM847 cells, Mol. Cell Biol. 21 (2001) 3862–3875.
- [48] V. Lundblad, E.H. Blackburn, An alternative pathway for yeast telomere maintenance rescues est1-senescence, Cell 73 (1993) 347–360.
- [49] M.J. McEachern, E.H. Blackburn, Cap-prevented recombination between terminal telomeric repeat arrays (telomere CPR) maintains telomeres in Kluyveromyces lactis lacking telomerase, Genes Dev. 10 (1996) 1822–1834.
- [50] T.R. Yeager, A.A. Neumann, A. Englezou, L.I. Huschtscha, J.R. Noble, R.R. Reddel, Telomerase-negative immortalized human cells contain a novel type of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body, Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 4175–4179.
- [51] M.A. Dunham, A.A. Neumann, C.L. Fasching, R.R. Reddel, Telomere maintenance by recombination in human cells, Nat. Genet. 26 (2000) 447–450.
- [52] V. Lundblad, DNA ends: maintenance of chromosome termini versus repair of double strand breaks, Mutat. Res. 451 (2000) 227–240.
- [53] F. d'Adda di Fagagna, M.P. Hande, W.M. Tong, D. Roth, P.M. Lansdorp, Z.Q. Wang, S.P. Jackson, Effects of DNA nonhomologous end-joining factors on telomere length and chromosomal stability in mammalian cells, Curr. Biol. 11 (2001) 1192–1196.
- [54] C. Wei, R. Skopp, M. Takata, S. Takeda, C.M. Price, Effects of double-strand break repair proteins on vertebrate telomere structure, Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (2002) 2862–2870.
- [55] E.H. Blackburn, S.S. Chiou, Non-nucleosomal packaging of a tandemly repeated DNA sequence at termini of extrachromosomal DNA coding for rRNA in Tetrahymena, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78 (1981) 2263–2267.
- [56] M.N. Conrad, J.H. Wright, A.J. Wolf, V.A. Zakian, RAP1 protein interacts with yeast telomeres in vivo: overproduction alters telomere structure and decreases chromosome stability, Cell 63 (1990) 739–750.
- [57] J.H. Wright, D.E. Gottschling, V.A. Zakian, Saccharomyces telomeres assume a non-nucleosomal chromatin structure, Genes Dev. 6 (1992) 197–210.

- [58] Z. Zhong, L. Shiue, S. Kaplan, T. de Lange, A mammalian factor that binds telomeric TTAGGG repeats in vitro, Mol. Cell Biol. 12 (1992) 4834–4843.
- [59] B. van Steensel, T. de Lange, Control of telomere length by the human telomeric protein TRF1, Nature 385 (1997) 740–743.
- [60] S. Smith, I. Giriat, A. Schmitt, T. de Lange, Tankyrase, a poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase at human telomeres, Science 282 (1998) 1484–1487.
- [61] D. Broccoli, A. Smogorzewska, L. Chong, T. de Lange, Human telomeres contain two distinct Myb-related proteins, TRF1 and TRF2, Nat. Genet. 17 (1997) 231–235.
- [62] T. Bilaud, C. Brun, K. Ancelin, C.E. Koering, T. Laroche, E. Gilson, Telomeric localization of TRF2, a novel human telobox protein, Nat. Genet. 17 (1997) 236–239.
- [63] B. van Steensel, A. Smogorzewska, T. de Lange, TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions, Cell 92 (1998) 401–413.
- [64] A. Smogorzewska, B. van Steensel, A. Bianchi, S. Oelmann, M.R. Schaefer, G. Schnapp, T. de Lange, Control of human telomere length by TRF1 and TRF2, Mol. Cell Biol. 20 (2000) 1659–1668.
- [65] J. Karlseder, D. Broccoli, Y. Dai, S. Hardy, T. de Lange, p53and ATM-dependent apoptosis induced by telomeres lacking TRF2, Science 283 (1999) 1321–1325.
- [66] P. Pteiffer, W. Goedecke, G. Obe, Mechanisms of DNA double-strand break repair and their potential to induce chromosomal aberrations, Mutagenesis 15 (2000) 289–302.
- [67] P.A. Jeggo, Identification of genes involved in repair of DNA double-strand breaks in mammalian cells, Radiat. Res. 150 (1998) 80–91.
- [68] P.A. Jeggo, DNA–PK: at the cross-roads of biochemistry and genetics, Mutat. Res. 384 (1997) 1–14.
- [69] E. Pastwa, J. Blasiak, Non-homologous DNA end joining, Acta Biochim. Pol. 50 (2003) 891–908.
- [70] A.J. Doherty, S.P. Jackson, DNA repair: how Ku makes ends meet, Curr. Biol. 11 (2001) 920–924.
- [71] O. Novac, D. Matheos, F.D. Araujo, G.B. Price, M. Zannis-Hadjopoulos, In vivo association of Ku with mammalian origins of DNA replication, Mol. Biol. Cell. 12 (2001) 3386–3401.
- [72] T. Carter, I. Vancurova, I. Sun, W. Lou, S. DeLeon, A DNAactivated protein kinase from HeLa cell nuclei, Mol. Cell Biol. 10 (1990) 6460–6471.
- [73] A. Dvir, S.R. Peterson, M.W. Knuth, H. Lu, W.S. Dynan, Ku autoantigen is the regulatory component of a templateassociated protein kinase that phosphorylates RNA polymerase II, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89 (1992) 11920– 11924.
- [74] R.M. Polotnianka, J. Li, A.J. Lustig, The yeast Ku heterodimer is essential for protection of the telomere against nucleolytic and recombinational activities, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) 831–834.
- [75] M.T. Ruiz, D. Matheos, G.B. Price, M. Zannis-Hadjopoulos, OBA/Ku86: DNA binding specificity and involvement in mammalian DNA replication, Mol. Biol. Cell. 10 (1999) 567–580.

- [76] A. Nussenzweig, K. Sokol, P. Burgman, L. Li, G.C. Li, Hypersensitivity of Ku80-deficient cell lines and mice to DNA damage: the effects of ionizing radiation on growth, survival, and development, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 13588–13593.
- [77] R. Tuteja, N. Tuteja, Ku autoantigen: a multifunctional DNA-binding protein, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35 (2000) 1–33.
- [78] H.L. Hsu, D. Gilley, E.H. Blackburn, D.J. Chen, Ku is associated with the telomere in mammals, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (1999) 12454–12458.
- [79] H.L. Hsu, D. Gilley, S.A. Galande, M.P. Hande, B. Allen, S.H. Kim, G.C. Li, J. Campisi, T. Kohwi-Shigematsu, D.J. Chen, Ku acts in a unique way at the mammalian telomere to prevent end joining, Genes Dev. 14 (2000) 2807–2812.
- [80] K. Song, D. Jung, Y. Jung, S.G. Lee, I. Lee, Interaction of human Ku70 with TRF2, FEBS Lett. 481 (2000) 81–85.
- [81] W. Chai, L.P. Ford, L. Lenertz, W.E. Wright, J.W. Shay, Human Ku70/80 associates physically with telomerase through interaction with hTERT, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 47242–47247.
- [82] G.C. Smith, S.P. Jackson, The DNA-dependent protein kinase, Genes Dev. 13 (1999) 916–934.
- [83] P.W. Greenwell, S.L. Kronmal, S.E. Porter, J. Gassenhuber, B. Obermaier, T.D. Petes, TEL1, a gene involved in controlling telomere length in *S. cerevisiae*, is homologous to the human ataxia telangiectasia gene, Cell 82 (1995) 823– 829.
- [84] M.P. Hande, A.S. Balajee, A. Tchirkov, A. Wynshaw-Boris, P.M. Lansdorp, Extra-chromosomal telomeric DNA in cells from Atm(-/-) mice and patients with ataxia-telangiectasia, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 519–528.
- [85] T.K. Pandita, S. Pathak, C.R. Geard, Chromosome end associations, telomeres and telomerase activity in ataxia telangiectasia cells, Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 71 (1995) 86–93.
- [86] P. Hande, P. Slijepcevic, A. Silver, S. Bouffler, P. van Buul, P. Bryant, P. Lansdorp, Elongated telomeres in scid mice, Genomics 56 (1999) 221–223.
- [87] S.M. Bailey, M.N. Cornforth, A. Kurimasa, D.J. Chen, E.H. Goodwin, Strand-specific postreplicative processing of mammalian telomeres, Science 293 (2001) 2462–2465.
- [88] S.M. Bailey, J. Meyne, D.J. Chen, A. Kurimasa, G.C. Li, B.E. Lehnert, E.H. Goodwin, DNA double-strand break repair proteins are required to cap the ends of mammalian chromosomes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (1999) 14899–14904.
- [89] S. Espejel, S. Franco, A. Segura, D. Gae, S.M. Bailey, G.E. Taccioli, M.A. Blasco, Functional interaction between DNA– PKcs and telomerase in telomere length maintenance, EMBO J. 21 (2002) 6275–6287.
- [90] F. d'Adda di Fagagna, M.P. Hande, W.M. Tong, P.M. Lansdorp, Z.Q. Wang, S.P. Jackson, Functions of poly(ADPribose) polymerase in controlling telomere length and chromosomal stability, Nat. Genet. 23 (1999) 76–80.
- [91] X.D. Zhu, B. Kuster, M. Mann, J.H. Petrini, T. de Lange, Cell-cycle-regulated association of RAD50/MRE11/NBS1 with TRF2 and human telomeres, Nat. Genet. 25 (2000) 347–352.

- [92] G. Wu, X. Jiang, W.H. Lee, P.L. Chen, Assembly of functional ALT-associated promyelocytic leukemia bodies requires Nijmegen breakage syndrome 1, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 2589–2595.
- [93] I. Jaco, P. Munoz, F. Goytisolo, J. Wesoly, S. Bailey, G. Taccioli, M.A. Blasco, Role of mammalian Rad54 in telomere length maintenance, Mol. Cell Biol. 23 (2003) 5572– 5580.
- [94] M. Tarsounas, P. Munoz, A. Claas, P.G. Smiraldo, D.L. Pittman, M.A. Blasco, S.C. West, Telomere maintenance requires the RAD51D recombination/repair protein, Cell 117 (2004) 337–347.
- [95] J. Campisi, S.H. Kim, C.S. Lim, M. Rubio, Cellular senescence, cancer and aging: the telomere connection, Exp. Gerontol. 36 (2001) 1619–1637.
- [96] E. Hara, H. Tsurui, A. Shinozaki, S. Nakada, K. Oda, Cooperative effect of antisense-Rb and antisense-p53 oligomers on the extension of life span in human diploid fibroblasts, TIG-1, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 179 (1991) 528–534.
- [97] C. Desmaze, J.C. Soria, M.A. Freulet-Marriere, N. Mathieu, L. Sabatier, Telomere-driven genomic instability in cancer cells, Cancer Lett. 194 (2003) 173–182.
- [98] J.M. Wong, K. Collins, Telomere maintenance and disease, Lancet 362 (2003) 983–988.
- [99] J.W. Shay, S. Bacchetti, A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer, Eur. J. Cancer 33 (1997) 787–791.
- [100] C.M. Counter, F.M. Botelho, P. Wang, C.B. Harley, S. Bacchetti, Stabilization of short telomeres and telomerase activity accompany immortalization of Epstein-Barr virustransformed human B lymphocytes, J. Virol. 68 (1994) 3410– 3414.
- [101] M. Meyerson, C.M. Counter, E.N. Eaton, L.W. Ellisen, P. Steiner, S.D. Caddle, L. Ziaugra, R.L. Beijersbergen, M.J. Davidoff, Q. Liu, S. Bacchetti, D.A. Haber, R.A. Weinberg, hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is up-regulated in tumour cells and during immortalization, Cell 90 (1997) 785–795.
- [102] C.M. Counter, W.C. Hahn, W. Wei, S.D. Caddle, R.L. Beijersbergen, P.M. Lansdorp, J.M. Sedivy, R.A. Weinberg, Dissociation among in vitro telomerase activity, telomere maintenance, and cellular immortalization, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (1998) 14723–14728.
- [103] T. Kiyono, S.A. Foster, J.I. Coop, J.K. McDougall, D.A. Galloway, A.J. Klingelhutz, Both Rb/p16INK4a inactivation and telomerase activity are required to immortalize human epithelial cells, Nature 396 (1998) 84–88.
- [104] D. Gisselsson, T. Jonson, A. Petersen, B. Strombeck, P. Dal Cin, M. Hoglund, F. Mitelman, F. Mertens, N. Mandahl, Telomere dysfunction triggers extensive DNA fragmentation and evolution of complex chromosome abnormalities in human malignant tumours, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 12683–12688.
- [105] S.E. Artandi, S. Chang, S.L. Lee, S. Alson, G.J. Gottlieb, L. Chin, R.A. DePinho, Telomere dysfunction promotes nonreciprocal translocations and epithelial cancers in mice, Nature 406 (2000) 641–645.

- [106] J.H. Hoeijmakers, Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer, Nature 411 (2001) 366–374.
- [107] W. Klapper, R. Parwaresch, G. Krupp, Telomere biology in human aging and aging syndromes, Mech. Ageing Dev. 122 (2001) 695–712.
- [108] J.A. Metcalfe, J. Parkhill, L. Campbell, M. Stacey, P. Biggs, P.J. Byrd, A.M. Taylor, Accelerated telomere shortening in ataxia telangiectasia, Nat. Genet. 13 (1996) 350– 353.
- [109] M.B. Kastan, D.S. Lim, The many substrates and functions of ATM, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1 (2000) 179–186.
- [110] M.F. Lavin, Y. Shiloh, The genetic defect in ataxia-telangiectasia, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 15 (1997) 177–202.
- [111] M.S. Meyn, Ataxia-telangiectasia, cancer and the pathobiology of the ATM gene, Clin. Genet. 55 (1999) 289–304.
- [112] K.K. Khanna, Cancer risk and the ATM gene: a continuing debate, J. Natl. Cancer. Inst. 92 (2000) 795–802.
- [113] S.N. Teraoka, K.E. Malone, D.R. Doody, N.M. Suter, E.A. Ostrander, J.R. Daling, P. Concannon, Increased frequency of ATM mutations in breast carcinoma patients with early onset disease and positive family history, Cancer 92 (2001) 479– 487.
- [114] N.C. Levitt, I.D. Hickson, Caretaker tumour suppressor genes that defend genome integrity, Trends Mol. Med. 8 (2002) 179–186.
- [115] A. Barzilai, G. Rotman, Y. Shiloh, ATM deficiency and oxidative stress: a new dimension of defective response to DNA damage, DNA Repair 1 (2002) 3–25.
- [116] G. Rotman, Y. Shiloh, ATM: a mediator of multiple responses to genotoxic stress, Oncogene 18 (1999) 6135–6144.
- [117] K. Savitsky, A. Bar-Shira, S. Gilad, G. Rotman, Y. Ziv, L. Vanagaite, D.A. Tagle, S. Smith, T. Uziel, S. Sfez, et al. A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase, Science 268 (1995) 1749–1753.
- [118] M.F. Hoekstra, Responses to DNA damage and regulation of cell cycle checkpoints by the ATM protein kinase family, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 7 (1997) 170–175.
- [119] M. O'Driscoll, V.L. Ruiz-Perez, C.G. Woods, P.A. Jeggo, J.A. Goodship, A splicing mutation affecting expression of ataxiatelangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR) results in Seckel syndrome, Nat. Genet. 33 (2003) 497–501.
- [120] N.D. Lakin, S.P. Jackson, Regulation of p53 in response to DNA damage, Oncogene 18 (1999) 7644–7655.
- [121] Y. Shiloh, ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated): expanding roles in the DNA damage response and cellular homeostasis, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 29 (2001) 661–666.
- [122] Y. Shiloh, ATM and ATR: networking cellular responses to DNA damage, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 11 (2001) 71–77.
- [123] T. Taniguchi, I. Garcia-Higuera, B. Xu, P.R. Andreassen, R.C. Gregory, S.T. Kim, W.S. Lane, M.B. Kastan, A.D. D'Andrea, Convergence of the fanconi anemia and ataxia telangiectasia signaling pathways, Cell 109 (2002) 459–472.
- [124] B. Marte, A FANCy double life, Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) 151.
- [125] D.M. Morrow, D.A. Tagle, Y. Shiloh, F.S. Collins, P. Hieter, TEL1, an S. cerevisiae homolog of the human gene mutated in ataxia telangiectasia, is functionally related to the yeast checkpoint gene MEC1, Cell 82 (1995) 831–840.

- [126] E. Fritz, A.A. Friedl, R.M. Zwacka, F. Eckardt-Schupp, M.S. Meyn, The yeast TEL1 gene partially substitutes for human ATM in suppressing hyperrecombination, radiation-induced apoptosis and telomere shortening in A-T cells, Mol. Biol. Cell 11 (2000) 2605–2616.
- [127] T.K. Pandita, E.J. Hall, T.K. Hei, M.A. Piatyszek, W.E. Wright, C.Q. Piao, R.K. Pandita, J.C. Willey, C.R. Geard, M.B. Kastan, J.W. Shay, Chromosome end-to-end associations and telomerase activity during cancer progression in human cells after treatment with alpha-particles simulating radon progeny, Oncogene 13 (1996) 1423–1430.
- [128] L.B. Smilenov, S.E. Morgan, W. Mellado, S.G. Sawant, M.B. Kastan, T.K. Pandita, Influence of ATM function on telomere metabolism, Oncogene 15 (1997) 2659–2665.
- [129] C. Barlow, S. Hirotsune, R. Paylor, M. Liyanage, M. Eckhaus, F. Collins, Y. Shiloh, J.N. Crawley, T. Ried, D. Tagle, A. Wynshaw-Boris, Atm-deficient mice: a paradigm of ataxia telangiectasia, Cell 86 (1996) 159–171.
- [130] M.S. Meyn, Ataxia-telangiectasia and cellular responses to DNA damage, Cancer Res. 55 (1995) 5991–6001.
- [131] M. Yi, M.P. Rosin, C.K. Anderson, Response of fibroblast cultures from ataxia-telangiectasia patients to oxidative stress, Cancer Lett. 54 (1990) 43–50.
- [132] H. Vaziri, M.D. West, R.C. Allsopp, T.S. Davison, Y.S. Wu, C.H. Arrowsmith, G.G. Poirier, S. Benchimol, ATM-dependent telomere loss in aging human diploid fibroblasts and DNA damage lead to the post-translational activation of p53 protein involving poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 6018–6033.
- [133] K.K. Wong, R.S. Maser, R.M. Bachoo, J. Menon, D.R. Carrasco, Y. Gu, F.W. Alt, R.A. DePinho, Telomere dysfunction and Atm deficiency compromises organ homeostasis and accelerates ageing, Nature 421 (2003) 643–648.
- [134] L. Qi, M.A. Strong, B.O. Karim, M. Armanios, D.L. Huso, C.W. Greider, Short telomeres and ataxia-telangiectasia mutated deficiency cooperatively increase telomere dysfunction and suppress tumourigenesis, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 8188–8196.
- [135] A. Tchirkov, P.M. Lansdorp, Role of oxidative stress in telomere shortening in cultured fibroblasts from normal individuals and patients with ataxia-telangiectasia, Hum. Mol. Genet. 12 (2003) 227.
- [136] S. Oikawa, S. Kawanishi, Site-specific DNA damage at GGG sequence by oxidative stress may accelerate telomere shortening, FEBS Lett. 453 (1999) 365–368.
- [137] K. Saar, K.H. Chrzanowska, M. Stumm, M. Jung, G. Nurnberg, T.F. Wienker, E. Seemanova, R.D. Wegner, A. Reis, K. Sperling, The gene for the ataxia-telangiectasia variant, Nijmegen breakage syndrome, maps to a 1-cM interval on chromosome 8q21, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 60 (1997) 605–610.
- [138] R. Varon, C. Vissinga, M. Platzer, K.M. Cerosaletti, K.H. Chrzanowska, K. Saar, G. Beckmann, E. Seemanova, P.R. Cooper, N.J. Nowak, M. Stumm, C.M. Weemaes, R.A. Gatti, R.K. Wilson, M. Digweed, A. Rosenthal, K. Sperling, P. Concannon, A. Reis, Nibrin, a novel DNA double-strand break repair protein, is mutated in Nijmegen breakage syndrome, Cell 93 (1998) 467–476.

- [139] J.P. Carney, R.S. Maser, H. Olivares, E.M. Le Davis, M. Beau, J.R. Yates 3rd., L. Hays, W.F. Morgan, J.H. Petrini, The hMre11/hRad50 protein complex and Nijmegen breakage syndrome: linkage of double-strand break repair to the cellular DNA damage response, Cell 93 (1998) 477–486.
- [140] S. Matsuura, H. Tauchi, A. Nakamura, N. Kondo, S. Sakamoto, S. Endo, D. Smeets, B. Solder, B.H. Belohradsky, V.M. Der Kaloustian, M. Oshimura, M. Isomura, Y. Nakamura, K. Komatsu, Positional cloning of the gene for Nijmegen breakage syndrome, Nat. Genet. 19 (1998) 179–181.
- [141] M. Digweed, A. Reis, K. Sperling, Nijmegen breakage syndrome: consequences of defective DNA double strand break repair, Bioessays 21 (1999) 649–656.
- [142] I. van der Burgt, K.H. Chrzanowska, D. Smeets, C. Weemaes, Nijmegen breakage syndrome, J. Med. Genet. 33 (1996) 153– 156.
- [143] R.D. Taalman, N.G. Jaspers, J.M. Scheres, J. de Wit, T.W. Hustinx, Hypersensitivity to ionizing radiation, in vitro, in a new chromosomal breakage disorder, the Nijmegen breakage syndrome, Mutat. Res. 112 (1983) 23–32.
- [144] B.R. Young, R.B. Painter, Radioresistant DNA synthesis and human genetic diseases, Hum. Genet. 82 (1989) 113– 117.
- [145] K.E. Sullivan, E. Veksler, H. Lederman, S.P. Lees-Miller, Cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair in Nijmegen breakage syndrome, Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 82 (1997) 43– 48.
- [146] Y. Shiloh, Ataxia-telangiectasia and the Nijmegen breakage syndrome: related disorders but genes apart, Annu. Rev. Genet. 31 (1997) 635–662.
- [147] J. Kobayashi, H. Tauchi, S. Sakamoto, A. Nakamura, K. Morishima, S. Matsuura, T. Kobayashi, K. Tamai, K. Tanimoto, K. Komatsu, NBS1 localizes to gamma-H2AX foci through interaction with the FHA/BRCT domain, Curr. Biol. 12 (2002) 1846–1851.
- [148] M. Gatei, D. Young, K.M. Cerosaletti, A. Desai-Mehta, K. Spring, S. Kozlov, M.F. Lavin, R.A. Gatti, P. Concannon, K. Khanna, ATM-dependent phosphorylation of nibrin in response to radiation exposure, Nat. Genet. 25 (2000) 115–119.
- [149] D.S. Lim, S.T. Kim, B. Xu, R.S. Maser, J. Lin, J.H. Petrini, M.B. Kastan, ATM phosphorylates p95/nbs1 in an S-phase checkpoint pathway, Nature 404 (2000) 613–617.
- [150] S. Zhao, Y.C. Weng, S.S. Yuan, Y.T. Lin, H.C. Hsu, S.C. Lin, E. Gerbino, M.H. Song, M.Z. Zdzienicka, R.A. Gatti, J.W. Shay, Y. Ziv, Y. Shiloh, E.Y. Lee, Functional link between ataxia-telangiectasia and Nijmegen breakage syndrome gene products, Nature 405 (2000) 473–477.
- [151] R.T. Abraham, Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases, Genes Dev. 15 (2001) 2177–2196.
- [152] B.E. Nelms, R.S. Maser, J.F. MacKay, M.G. Lagally, J.H. Petrini, In situ visualization of DNA double-strand break repair in human fibroblasts, Science 280 (1998) 590–592.
- [153] J.E. Haber, The many interfaces of Mre11, Cell 95 (1998) 583–586.
- [154] M.E. Gallego, C.I. White, RAD50 function is essential for telomere maintenance in Arabidopsis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 1711–1716.

- [155] S.C. Teng, J. Chang, B. McCowan, V.A. Zakian, Telomeraseindependent lengthening of yeast telomeres occurs by an abrupt Rad50p-dependent, Rif-inhibited recombinational process, Mol. Cell 6 (2000) 947–952.
- [156] S. Le, J.K. Moore, J.E. Haber, C.W. Greider, RAD50 and RAD51 define two pathways that collaborate to maintain telomeres in the absence of telomerase, Genetics 152 (1999) 143–152.
- [157] V. Ranganathan, W.F. Heine, D.N. Ciccone, K.L. Rudolph, X. Wu, S. Chang, H. Hai, I.M. Ahearn, D.M. Livingston, I. Resnick, F. Rosen, E. Seemanova, P. Jarolim, R.A. DePinho, D.T. Weaver, Rescue of a telomere length defect of Nijmegen breakage syndrome cells requires NBS and telomerase catalytic subunit, Curr. Biol. 11 (2001) 962–966.
- [158] G. Wu, W.H. Lee, P.L. Chen, NBS1 and TRF1 colocalize at promyelocytic leukemia bodies during late S/G2 phases in immortalized telomerase-negative cells. Implication of NBS1 in alternative lengthening of telomeres, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 30618–30622.
- [159] M.S. Eller, G.Z. Li, R. Firoozabadi, N. Puri, B.A. Gilchrest, Induction of a p95/Nbs1-mediated S phase checkpoint by telomere 3' overhang specific DNA, FASEB J. 17 (2003) 152–162.
- [160] J. German, Bloom syndrome: a mendelian prototype of somatic mutational disease, Medicine (Baltimore) 72 (1993) 393–406.
- [161] N.A. Ellis, J. Groden, T.Z. Ye, J. Straughen, D.J. Lennon, S. Ciocci, M. Proytcheva, J. German, The Bloom's syndrome gene product is homologous to RecQ helicases, Cell (1995) 83.
- [162] J.K. Karow, R.K. Chakraverty, I.D. Hickson, The Bloom's syndrome gene product is a 3'-5' DNA helicase, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 30611–30614.
- [163] K. Hanada, T. Ukita, Y. Kohno, K. Saito, J. Kato, H. Ikeda, RecQ DNA helicase is a suppressor of illegitimate recombination in *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 3860–3865.
- [164] P. Mohaghegh, I.D. Hickson, DNA helicase deficiencies associated with cancer predisposition and premature ageing disorders, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 741–746.
- [165] Y. Wang, D. Cortez, P. Yazdi, N. Neff, S.J. Elledge, J. Qin, BASC, a super complex of BRCA1-associated proteins involved in the recognition and repair of aberrant DNA structures, Genes Dev. 14 (2000) 927–939.
- [166] G. Traverso, C. Bettegowda, J. Kraus, M.R. Speicher, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, C. Lengauer, Hyper-recombination and genetic instability in BLM-deficient epithelial cells, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 8578–8581.
- [167] R.K. Chakraverty, I.D. Hickson, Defending genome integrity during DNA replication: a proposed role for RecQ family helicases, Bioessays 21 (1999) 286–294.
- [168] T. Kurihara, K. Tatsumi, H. Takahashi, M. Inoue, Sister-chromatid exchanges induced by ultraviolet light in Bloom's syndrome fibroblasts, Mutat. Res. 183 (1987) 197–202.
- [169] H. Beamish, P. Kedar, H. Kaneko, P. Chen, T. Fukao, C. Peng, S. Beresten, N. Gueven, D. Purdie, S. Lees-Miller, N. Ellis, N. Kondo, M.F. Lavin, Functional link between BLM defective in Bloom's syndrome and the ataxia-telangiectasia-

mutated protein, ATM, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 30515-30523.

- [170] W. Wang, M. Seki, Y. Narita, E. Sonoda, S. Takeda, K. Yamada, T. Masuko, T. Katada, T. Enomoto, Possible association of BLM in decreasing DNA double strand breaks during DNA replication, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 3428– 3435.
- [171] J.K. Karow, A. Constantinou, J.L. Li, S.C. West, I.D. Hickson, The Bloom's syndrome gene product promotes branch migration of holliday junctions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 6504–6508.
- [172] O. Bischof, S. Galande, F. Farzaneh, T. Kohwi-Shigematsu, J. Campisi, Selective cleavage of BLM, the Bloom syndrome protein, during apoptotic cell death, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 12068–12075.
- [173] A.M. Ishov, A.G. Sotnikov, D. Negorev, O.V. Vladimirova, N. Neff, T. Kamitani, E.T. Yeh, J.F. Strauss 3rd., G.G. Maul, PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1, J. Cell Biol. 147 (1999) 221–234.
- [174] A. Franchitto, P. Pichierri, Bloom's syndrome protein is required for correct relocalization of RAD50/MRE11/ NBS1 complex after replication fork arrest, J. Cell Biol. 157 (2002) 19–30.
- [175] S. Sengupta, S.P. Linke, R. Pedeux, Q. Yang, J. Farnsworth, S.H. Garfield, K. Valerie, J.W. Shay, N.A. Ellis, B. Wasylyk, C.C. Harris, BLM helicase-dependent transport of p53 to sites of stalled DNA replication forks modulates homologous recombination, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 1210–1222.
- [176] A.R. Davalos, J. Campisi, Bloom syndrome cells undergo p53-dependent apoptosis and delayed assembly of BRCA1 and NBS1 repair complexes at stalled replication forks, J. Cell Biol. 162 (2003) 1197–1209.
- [177] H. Cohen, D.A. Sinclair, Recombination-mediated lengthening of terminal telomeric repeats requires the Sgs1 DNA helicase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 3174–3179.
- [178] F.B. Johnson, R.A. Marciniak, M. McVey, S.A. Stewart, W.C. Hahn, L. Guarente, The *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* WRN homolog Sgs1p participates in telomere maintenance in cells lacking telomerase, EMBO J. 20 (2001) 905–913.
- [179] S. Zhong, P. Hu, T.Z. Ye, R. Stan, N.A. Ellis, P.P. Pandolfi, A role for PML and the nuclear body in genomic stability, Oncogene 18 (1999) 7941–7947.
- [180] V. Yankiwski, R.A. Marciniak, L. Guarente, N.F. Neff, Nuclear structure in normal and Bloom syndrome cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 5214–5219.
- [181] D.J. Stavropoulos, P.S. Bradshaw, X. Li, I. Pasic, K. Truong, M. Ikura, M. Ungrin, M.S. Meyn, The Bloom syndrome helicase BLM interacts with TRF2 in ALT cells and promotes telomeric DNA synthesis, Hum. Mol. Genet. 11 (2002) 3135– 3144.
- [182] J. Schawalder, E. Paric, N.F. Neff, Telomere and ribosomal DNA repeats are chromosomal targets of the Bloom syndrome DNA helicase, BMC Cell. Biol. 4 (2003) 15.
- [183] C.A. Dyer, A.J. Sinclair, The premature ageing syndromes: insights into the ageing process, Age Ageing 27 (1998) 73– 80.

- [184] D. Salk, Werner's syndrome: a review of recent research with an analysis of connective tissue metabolism, growth control of cultured cells, and chromosomal aberrations, Hum. Genet. 62 (1982) 1–5.
- [185] M. Goto, R.W. Miller, Y. Ishikawa, H. Sugano, Excess of rare cancers in Werner syndrome (adult progeria), Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 5 (1996) 239–246.
- [186] D. Salk, K. Au, H. Hoehn, G.M. Martin, Cytogenetic aspects of Werner syndrome, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. (1985) 190.
- [187] K. Fukuchi, G.M. Martin, R.J. Monnat Jr., Mutator phenotype of Werner syndrome is characterized by extensive deletions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86 (1989) 5893– 5897.
- [188] P. Pichierri, A. Franchitto, P. Mosesso, F. Palitti, Werner's syndrome cell lines are hypersensitive to camptothecininduced chromosomal damage, Mutat. Res. 456 (2000) 45–47.
- [189] M. Poot, K.A. Gollahon, M.J. Emond, J.R. Silber, P.S. Rabinovitch, Werner syndrome diploid fibroblasts are sensitive to 4-nitroquinoline-N-oxide and 8-methoxypsoralen: implications for the disease phenotype, FASEB J. 16 (2002) 757–758.
- [190] M.D. Gray, J.C. Shen, A.S. Kamath-Loeb, A. Blank, B.L. Sopher, G.M. Martin, J. Oshima, L.A. Loeb, The Werner syndrome protein is a DNA helicase, Nat. Genet. 17 (1997) 100–103.
- [191] J.C. Shen, M.D. Gray, J. Oshima, A.S. Kamath-Loeb, M. Fry, L.A. Loeb, Werner syndrome protein. I. DNA helicase and dna exonuclease reside on the same polypeptide, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 34139–34144.
- [192] J. Oshima, The Werner syndrome protein: an update, Bioessays 22 (2000) 894–901.
- [193] V.A. Bohr, R.M. Brosh Jr., C. von Kobbe, P. Opresko, P. Karmakar, Pathways defective in the human premature aging disease Werner syndrome, Biogerontology 3 (2002) 89–94.
- [194] M.D. Gray, L. Wang, H. Youssoufian, G.M. Martin, J. Oshima, Werner helicase is localized to transcriptionally active nucleoli of cycling cells, Exp. Cell Res. 242 (1998) 487–494.
- [195] R.A. Marciniak, D.B. Lombard, F.B. Johnson, L. Guarente, Nucleolar localization of the Werner syndrome protein in human cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (1998) 6887– 6892.
- [196] R.M. Brosh Jr., D.K. Orren, J.O. Nehlin, P.H. Ravn, M.K. Kenny, A. Machwe, V.A. Bohr, Functional and physical interaction between WRN helicase and human replication protein A, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 18341–18350.
- [197] I. Ohsugi, Y. Tokutake, N. Suzuki, T. Ide, M. Sugimoto, Y. Furuichi, Telomere repeat DNA forms a large non-covalent complex with unique cohesive properties which is dissociated by Werner syndrome DNA helicase in the presence of replication protein A, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) 3642– 3648.
- [198] A. Constantinou, M. Tarsounas, J.K. Karow, R.M. Brosh, V.A. Bohr, I.D. Hickson, S.C. West, Werner's syndrome protein (WRN) migrates Holliday junctions and co-localizes

with RPA upon replication arrest, EMBO Rep. 1 (2000) 80-84.

- [199] P. Mohaghegh, J.K. Karow Jr., R.M. Brosh Jr., V.A. Bohr, I.D. Hickson, The Bloom's and Werner's syndrome proteins are DNA structure-specific helicases, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) 2843–2849.
- [200] M.P. Cooper, A. Machwe, D.K. Orren, R.M. Brosh, D. Ramsden, V.A. Bohr, Ku complex interacts with and stimulates the Werner protein, Genes Dev. 14 (2000) 907– 912.
- [201] B. Li, L. Comai, Functional interaction between Ku and the Werner syndrome protein in DNA end processing, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 39800.
- [202] B. Li, L. Comai, Requirements for the nucleolytic processing of DNA ends by the Werner syndrome protein-Ku70/80 complex, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 9896–9902.
- [203] S.M. Yannone, S. Roy, D.W. Chan, M.B. Murphy, S. Huang, J. Campisi, D.J. Chen, Werner syndrome protein is regulated and phosphorylated by DNA-dependent protein kinase, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 38242–38248.
- [204] J. Oshima, S. Huang, C. Pae, J. Campisi, R.H. Schiestl, Lack of WRN results in extensive deletion at nonhomologous joining ends, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 547–551.
- [205] D. Salk, K. Au, H. Hoehn, G.M. Martin, Cytogenetics of Werner's syndrome cultured skin fibroblasts: variegated translocation mosaicism, Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 30 (1981) 92–107.
- [206] H. Tahara, Y. Tokutake, S. Maeda, H. Kataoka, T. Watanabe, M. Satoh, T. Matsumoto, M. Sugawara, T. Ide, M. Goto, Y. Furuichi, M. Sugimoto, Abnormal telomere dynamics of Blymphoblastoid cell strains from Werner's syndrome patients transformed by Epstein-Barr virus, Oncogene 15 (1997) 1911–1920.
- [207] V.P. Schulz, V.A. Zakian, C.E. Ogburn, J. McKay, A.A. Jarzebowicz, S.D. Edland, G.M. Martin, Accelerated loss of telomeric repeats may not explain accelerated replicative decline of Werner syndrome cells, Hum. Genet. (1996) 97.
- [208] P.A. Kruk, N.J. Rampino, V.A. Bohr, DNA damage and repair in telomeres: relation to aging, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92 (1995) 258–262.
- [209] F.S. Wyllie, C.J. Jones, J.W. Skinner, M.F. Haughton, C. Wallis, D. Wynford-Thomas, R.G. Faragher, D. Kipling, Telomerase prevents the accelerated cell ageing of Werner syndrome fibroblasts, Nat. Genet. 24 (2000) 16.
- [210] F.M. Hisama, Y.H. Chen, M.S. Meyn, J. Oshima, S.M. Weissman, WRN or telomerase constructs reverse 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide sensitivity in transformed Werner syndrome fibroblasts, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 2372–2376.
- [211] P.L. Opresko, J.P. Laine, R.M. Brosh Jr., M.M. Seidman, V.A. Bohr, Coordinate action of the helicase and 3' to 5' exonuclease of Werner syndrome protein, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 44677–44687.
- [212] D. Choi, P.S. Whittier, J. Oshima, W.D. Funk, Telomerase expression prevents replicative senescence but does not fully reset mRNA expression patterns in Werner syndrome cell strains, FASEB J. 15 (2001) 1014–1020.

- [213] P.L. Opresko, C. von Kobbe, J.P. Laine, J. Harrigan, I.D. Hickson, V.A. Bohr, Telomere-binding protein TRF2 binds to and stimulates the Werner and Bloom syndrome helicases, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 41110–41119.
- [214] Y. Bai, J.P. Murnane, Telomere instability in a human tumor cell line expressing a dominant-negative WRN protein, Hum. Genet. 113 (2003) 337–347.
- [215] A.D. Auerbach, M. Buchwald, H. Joenje, B. Volgestein, K.W. Kinzler (Eds.), The Genetic Basis of Human Cancer, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1993, p. 317.
- [216] A.J. Tipping, T. Pearson, N.V. Morgan, R.A. Gibson, L.P. Kuyt, C. Havenga, E. Gluckman, H. Joenje, T. de Ravel, S. Jansen, C.G. Mathew, Molecular and genealogical evidence for a founder effect in Fanconi anemia families of the Afrikaner population of South Africa, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 5734–5739.
- [217] M.A. Whitney, P. Jakobs, M. Kaback, R.E. Moses, M. Grompe, The Ashkenazi Jewish Fanconi anemia mutation: incidence among patients and carrier frequency in the at-risk population, Hum. Mutat. 3 (1994) 339–341.
- [218] E. Callen, J.A. Casado, J. Bueren, A. Creus, R. Marcos, A. Dasí, J. Estella, A. Muñoz, J.J. Ortega, H. Joenje, J.P. de Winter, D. Schindler, H. Hanenberg, M.D. Tischkowitz, C.G. Mathew, J. Surralles, Genetic characterization of Fanconi anemia in Spanish gypsies (submitted for publication).
- [219] C.A. Strathdee, M. Buchwald, Molecular and cellular biology of Fanconi anemia, Am. J. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol. (1992) 14.
- [220] E. Herrera, E. Samper, J. Martin-Caballero, J.M. Flores, H.W. Lee, M.A. Blasco, Disease states associated with telomerase deficiency appear earlier in mice with short telomeres, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 2950–2960.
- [221] R. Ishida, M. Buchwald, Susceptibility of Fanconi's anemia lymphoblasts to DNA-cross-linking and alkylating agents, Cancer Res. 42 (1982) 4000–4006.
- [222] H. Joenje, A.B. Oostra, M. Wijker, F.M. di Summa, C.G. van Berkel, M.A. Rooimans, W. Ebell, M. van Weel, J.C. Pronk, M. Buchwald, F. Arwert, Evidence for at least eight Fanconi anemia genes, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 61 (1997) 940–944.
- [223] C. Timmers, T. Taniguchi, J. Hejna, C. Reifsteck, L. Lucas, D. Bruun, M. Thayer, B. Cox, S. Olson, A.D. D'Andrea, R. Moses, M. Grompe, Positional cloning of a novel Fanconi anemia gene, FANCD2, Mol. Cell 7 (2001) 241–248.
- [224] M. Levitus, M.A. Rooimans, J. Steltenpool, N.F. Cool, A.B. Oostra, C.G. Mathew, M.E. Hoatlin, Q. Waisfisz, F. Arwert, J.P. De Winter, H. Joenje, Heterogeneity in Fanconi anemia: evidence for 2 new genetic subtypes, Blood 103 (2004) 2498– 2503.
- [225] D.I. Kutler, B. Singh, J. Satagopan, S.D. Batish, M. Berwick, P.F. Giampietro, H. Hanenberg, A.D. Auerbach, A 20-year perspective on the International Fanconi Anemia Registry (IFAR), Blood 101 (2003) 1249–1256.
- [226] I. Garcia-Higuera, T. Taniguchi, S. Ganesan, M.S. Meyn, C. Timmers, J. Hejna, M. Grompe, A.D. D'Andrea, Interaction of the Fanconi anemia proteins and BRCA1 in a common pathway, Mol. Cell. 7 (2001) 249–262.

- [227] K. Nakanishi, T. Taniguchi, V. Ranganathan, H.V. New, L.A. Moreau, M. Stotsky, C.G. Mathew, M.B. Kastan, D.T. Weaver, A.D. D'Andrea, Interaction of FANCD2 and NBS1 in the DNA damage response, Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) 913–920.
- [228] P. Pichierri, F. Rosselli, The DNA crosslink-induced S-phase checkpoint depends on ATR-CHK1 and ATR-NBS1-FANCD2 pathways, EMBO J. 23 (2004) 1178–1187.
- [229] M.T. Hemann, M.A. Strong, L.Y. Hao, C.W. Greider, The shortest telomere, not average telomere length, is critical for cell viability and chromosome stability, Cell 107 (2001) 67–77.
- [230] H.W. Lee, M.A. Blasco, G.J. Gottlieb, J.W. Horner 2nd., C.W. Greider, R.A. DePinho, Essential role of mouse telomerase in highly proliferative organs, Nature 392 (1998) 569–574.
- [231] H. Vaziri, W. Dragowska, R.C. Allsopp, T.E. Thomas, C.B. Harley, P.M. Lansdorp, Evidence for a mitotic clock in human hematopoietic stem cells: loss of telomeric DNA with age, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91 (1994) 9857–9860.
- [232] F. Leteurtre, X. Li, P. Guardiola, G. Le Roux, J.C. Sergere, P. Richard, E.D. Carosella, E. Gluckman, Accelerated telomere

shortening and telomerase activation in Fanconi's anaemia, Br. J. Haematol. 105 (1999) 883–893.

- [233] S.E. Ball, F.M. Gibson, S. Rizzo, J.A. Tooze, J.C. Marsh, E.C. Gordon-Smith, Progressive telomere shortening in aplastic anemia, Blood 91 (1998) 3582–3592.
- [234] E. Callen, E. Samper, M.J. Ramirez, A. Creus, R. Marcos, J.J. Ortega, T. Olive, I. Badell, M.A. Blasco, J. Surralles, Breaks at telomeres and TRF2-independent end fusions in Fanconi anemia, Hum. Mol. Genet. 11 (2002) 439–444.
- [235] H. Joenje, F. Arwert, A.W. Eriksson, H. de Koning, A.B. Oostra, Oxygen-dependence of chromosomal aberrations in Fanconi's anaemia, Nature 290 (1981) 142–143.
- [236] T. von Zglinicki, R. Pilger, N. Sitte, Accumulation of singlestrand breaks is the major cause of telomere shortening in human fibroblasts, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 28 (2000) 64–74.
- [237] M. Bogliolo, J. Surralles, The Fanconi anemia/BRCA pathway: FANCD2 at the crossroad between repair and checkpoint response to DNA damage, in: Adayabalam Balajee (Ed.), DNA Repair and Human Diseases, Landes Bioscience, New York, 2004.